
UNITED tlATIONS 

TRUSTEESHIP COUNCIL 
Fifteenth Session 

OFFICIAL RECORDS 

CONTENTS 

Examination of conditions in the Trust Territory of 
Togoland under British administration: (a) annual 
repo-rr-uf'"TI1e' -Xdiii'iillStHing Authority (T /1139, T /1148, 
T /1150, T /1153) ; (b) petitions circulated under rule 
85, paragraph 2, of the rules of procedure of the 
Trusteeship Council (T /PET.6/L52 to 55) (continued) 

I 

I 

Page 

Questions concerning the Trust Territory and replies 
of the special representative (continued) . . . . . . . . . . . . 135 

!.Hearit1g: ~f Mr. S. W. Kumah, Director of the Cocoa 
Pi.irCfiasing Company (T/PET.6/344)................ 139, 

President: Mr. Miguel Rafael URQUIA (El Salvador). 

Present: 

The representatives of the following States members 
of the Trusteeship Council: Australia, Belgium, China, 
El Salvador. France, Haiti, India, New Zealand, Syria, 
Union of Soviet Socialist Republics, United Kingdom 
of Great Britain and Northern Ireland, United States 
of America. 

The representatives of the following specialized agen
cies: International Labour Organisation; United Na
tions Educational, Scientific and Cultural Organization; 
\V orld Health Organization. 

Examination of conditions in the Trust Territory 
of Togoland under British administration: (a) 
annual report of the Administering Authority 
(T/1139, T/1148, T/1150, T/1153); (b) 
petitions circulated under rule 85, paragraph 2, 
of the rules of procedure of the Trusteeship 
Council (T /PET.6 /L.52 to 55) (continued) 

[Agenda items 3 (e) and 4] 

At the invitation of the President, Mr. Ensor, special 
representative of the Administering Authority for the 
Trust Territory of Togo/and under British administra
tion, took a place at the Coundl table. 

QUESTIONS CONCERNING THE TRUST TERRITORY AND 

R~'PLIES oF THE SPECIAL REPRESENTATIVE (continued) 

Economic advancement (concluded) 

1. Mr. DORSINVILLE (Haiti) noted from the 
annual report 1 that there had been a clash of interests 
between the Cocoa Purchasing Company Ltd. and the 
cocoa marketing co-operatives. It would be interesting 
to hear further details and to know why the Cocoa 
Purchasing Company, whose activities might really 
harm the marketing co-operatives, had been estab
lished. 

1 Report by Her Majest;/s Go'i'ernment in the Un·ited King
dom of Great Britain and Northern Ireland to the General 
Assembly of the United Nations on the Administration of 
Togo/and under United Kingdom Trusteeship for the Ye_ar 
1953, London: Her :\fajesty's Stationery Office, 1954, Coloma! 
~0. 308. 

,. 

581st ,Meeting 

Friday, 18 February 1955, 
at 2.25 p.m. 

NEW YORK 

2, Mr. ENSOR (Speci;J representative for Togoland 
under British administration) replied that the Cocoa 
Purchasing Company had been set up in order to place 
more of the trade in cocoa in the hands of all-African 
organizations which were in direct touch with the 
farmers, thus eliminating middlemen. At first, there had 
admittedly been some difficulties between the new com
pany and the co-operatives but they had been largely 
resolved; the co-operatives had established their share 
of the market and the Cocoa Purchasing Company now 
operated largely at the expense of the firms and the 
middlemen. 

3. In reply to a question from Mr. DORSINVILLE 
(Haiti) about the Administration's steps to assist con
sumer co-operatives, Mr. ENSOR (Special represen
tative for Togoland under British administration) ex
plained that no progress had been made in the last year 
because of the grave shortcomings which had been 
alleged in the operation of the consumer co-operative 
association. A commission of inquiry had been con
ducting an investigation and after its report had been 
studied, the Government would be able to decide how 
consumer co-operation could best be helped. In the 
meantime, consumer co-operation was more or less in 
abeyance, although only the central organization was 
in liquidation and not the individual societies, which 
could still obtain small quantities of goods for sale to 
their members. 

4. In reply to questions from Mr. DORSINVILLE 
(Haiti) about the Land Planning and Soil Conservation 
Ordinance and the land-planning scheme in general, 
Mr. ENSOR (Special representative for Togoland 
under British administration) explained that the object 
of the land planning scheme was to rehabilitate some 
over-populated and over-cultivated areas in the extreme 
northern part of the Gold Coast and the Trust Terri
tory. The main aspects of the scheme were the affores
tation of the headwaters of the rivers, the preparation 
of grass camps which could lie fallow and subsequently 
support cattle, and the cultivation of the rest of the area 
under controlled farming along the contours. In the 
Northern Section the whole of the land was held by the 
Governor on behalf of the people of the area. The land 
was allocated to the indigenous population by the 
tendanas, who performed a priestly function; the Gov
ernment intervened only where the immigration of 
people from outside the area was involved. Before the 
Land Planning Ordinance some land planning had been 
done with the co-operation of the tendanas and by per
suading the people to leave fallow lands which in many 
cases were bearing so few crops that they were no loss 
to the people. 

5. Mr. DORSINVILLE (Haiti) asked whether the 
mineral resources of the Territory were being exploited. 

6. Mr. ENSOR (Special representative for Togoland 
under British administration) replied in the negative. 
The iron-ore deposits were in the northern part of the 
Territory, far from the coast or from any source of 

. power, and it would not be economical to exploit them. 

135 TjSR.S81 



7. :Mr. S. S. LIU (China) noted from the annual 
report that the Cocoa :-rarketing Board could divert 
funds from its reserves to any purpose likely to benefit 
cocoa producers provided that it obtained the prior 
approval oi the GO\·ernor-in-Council. He would like to 
know the types of schemes for which such special 
allocations were made. 

8. :-rr. EXSOR (Special representative for Togoland 
under British administration) replied that the Cocoa 
:-larketing Board had made very large sums available 
to the Government to cover the cost of rehabilitating 
the cocoa industry by cutting out diseased trees and 
making grants to farmers for replanting in the diseased 
areas; it had also made grants to the University Col
lege of the Gold Coast- to endow a chair of agri
culture- and to the \Vest African Cocoa Research 
Institute. and had allocated funds for granting scholar
ships to the dependents of cocoa farmers and as local 
development grants for expenditure by district councils 
in cocoa-growing areas. 

9. In reply to questions from !\Ir. S. S. LIU (China) 
about the work of the Gonja Development Company in 
1954, the campaign to control swollen-shoot disease and 
replant ,,·here diseased trees had been cut out, and the 
National Committee on the Volta River Project, Mr. 
ENSOR (Special representative for Togoland under 
British administration) said that during 1954 the 
Gonja Development Company had continued its ex
perimental work. The Company's report for 1954 had 
not been available when he had left the Trust Territory 
for 1\ ew York. The latest information would be 
included in the annual report for 1954. 

10. During 1954 the first survey of the areas under 
cocoa in Togoland had been completed. Considerable 
progress had been made in dealing with the compara
tively small outbreaks of swollen-shoot disease. The 
most important development during the year was the 
fact that cocoa-manufacturing companies in the United 
States and the United Kingdom had finally agreed to 
accept a much higher proportion of Amazon-type cocoa 
than before. The Administration had therefore been 
able to issue seedlings of Amazon-type cocoa to the 
farmers and large quantities of seedlings were being 
grown at Akaa for that purpose. As the Amazon types 
were much quicker-yielding, the rehabilitation of the 
devastated areas should take only three or four instead 
of seven or eight years. 

11. There were two Togolanders on the National 
Committee for the Volta River Project, since it so 
happened that the representative of the Northern Terri
tories and the Northern Section was also a Togolander. 
The Volta River Project was a highly technical project, 
the details of which had to be worked out by experts 
from the two Governments concerned and the 
aluminium company. A number of highly technical 
papers were discussed by the experts; they were always 
made available to the National Committee. It consisted 
of Africans whose function was to see that the experts 
were not pursuing their work along lines which were 
likely to be detrimental to the people's interests and to 
advise the experts if they felt, for example, that a 
hydro-electric project could, with minor adaptations, 
also provide water for irrigation. 
12. Mr. GRUBYAKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics) asked how the figures for the Trust Terri
tory's revenue from export and import duties were 
calculated, since the Trust Territory had no separate 

budget or frontiers of its own. The same question also 
applied to the expenditure on such items as the 
Governor's office and the central offices of ministries 
which were common to Togoland and the Gold Coast. 
13. ::-rr. ENSOR (Special representative for Togo
land under British administration) replied that it was 
comparatively easy to calculate the export duty: the 
only product liable to export duty was cocoa and the 
number of tons bought in the Trust Territory was 
knO\\·n; the export duty was worked out on an average 
for the whole year and the figure given was compara
tively accurate. The figure for import duty, however, 
was much more of an estimate. The Territory's imports 
were estimated by a committee representing the Gov
ernment statistic:1l department, traders with a know
ledge of the Territory and certain other people; the 
estimates were based on the Gold Coast customs returns 
and the proportion of the total trade which was 
estimated to be going to the Trust Territory. 
14. In some cases, the exact details of expenditure in 
the Trust Territory were known. In other cases! ex
penditure on the Governor for instance, an equitable 
proportion of the total Gold Coast and Togoland ex
penditure was worked_ out in the light ?f such factors 
as the relative proportion of the populatiOn a~d t~e ex
tent to which the service concerned was workmg m the 
Trust Territory. There was no standar~ basis. 
Normally, in the complete absence of further _mforma
tion the relative population of the Trust Terntory and 
the 'Gold Coast would be taken as the basis. In most 
cases, however, better guides existed; they would vary 
from department to department. 
15. Mr. GRUBYAKOV (Union of Soviet Socia~ist 
Republics) understood that the C~coa Market.mg 
Board's stabilization fund was constituted by With
holding a set part of the price of cocoa from the pro
ducer. In addition, the Government levied an export 
duty on cocoa. The price of cocoa had been fixed at 
£260 a ton for the next four years. It wou.ld be 
interesting to know whether export duty paid .o~ 
amounts in excess of £260 a ton accrued to the stabth
zation fund or to the Government. In either case, the 
money would appear to be available to the Government 
to spend as it saw fit. 
16. Mr. ENSOR (Special representative for Togo
land under British administration) replied that 0e 
stabilization fund was held by the Cocoa Marketing 
Board and not by the Government. It had been fixed 
at £51 million and had remained at that level for some 
time. It was not altogether true to say that it could be 
regarded as money which would otherwise have gone 
to the producer. T~e Board's operations h~d led to 
important economies m the system of marketmg cocoa 
and a great deal of the Board's earnings would other
wise have gone to firms and middlemen. 

136 

17. The export duty collected was paid solely to the 
Government. Nevertheless, the Government was not 
free to dispose of it exactly as it wished. The duty, up 
to £260 a ton, had already been paid into a number of 
specific reserve funds for development and under the 
new ordinance the duty collected in excess of £2(/J a 
ton had to be allocated as follows: one-fifth to general 
revenue · two-fifths to the second development plan; 
and two'-fifths to a supplementary reserve fund which 
was intended for large projects outside the second 
development plan. Expenditure from those reserve 
funds could be made only with the approval of the 
Legislative Assembly. 



18. Mr. GRUBYAKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist company's tax was included in the Territory's estimated 
Republics) wondered whether he would be right to revenue. 
conclude that, with the exception of the one-fifth that 26. To further questions on taxation from Mr. 
went to the Government as general revenue, all the BARGUES (France), Mr. ENSOR (Special repre-
revenue from the export duty on cocoa would go in one sentative for Togoland under British administration) 
form or another to the development of the Trust Terri- replied that the income tax authorities were reluctant 
tory alone and not to the development of the Gold Coast to give any details of how the figures were made up; 
and the Trust Territory together. it was one of the Administration's principles that it 
19. Mr. ENSOR (Special representative for Togo- should not be possible to find out how much any indi-
land under British administration) replied in the nega- vidual paid. As a result, the authorities had not made 
tive. The various reserve funds were accumulated from separate figures for Africans and Europeans available 
the marketing of cocoa grown in the Gold Coast and to him. It was his impression however, that the allow-
Togoland and expenditure from those funds was ance of income free of tax was so considerable, and the 
applicable in both territories. difficulty of persuading an illiterate community to state 
20. Mr. GRUBYAKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist its income exactly for taxation purposes so great, that 
Republics) pointed out that the revenue from the ex- the individual income tax was very largely paid by 
port duty on the sale of cocoa exceeded the total budget non-Africans. 
for expenditure in the Trust Territory. As the funds 27. The Administration had found it difficult to in-
obtained from the export duty on cocoa were not spent troduce the new local authority property tax in the 
on the development of the Trust Territory exclusively, absence of exact details of property ownership and of 
it would therefore appear that the Trust Territory con- a standard basis for valuation of property throughout 
tributed more than it received. the Territory. It would continue its efforts to introduce 

the tax as a source of local authority revenue in order 
21. Mr. ENSOR (Special representative for Togo- to relieve the central Government of the burden of 
land under British administration) replied that that subsidizing the local authorities. 
would be an entirely unfounded conclusion. The Ad-
ministration was not able at the moment to expend all 28. \Vith regard to the Volta River scheme, a project 
the funds derived from the export duty on cocoa; large which would undoubtedly benefit the Territory's 
amounts were being accumulated in a reserve for future economic development, a preparatory commission was 
development. In that connexion he drew the USSR preparing the relevant documents for examination by 
representative's attention to the second part of para- the Legislative Assembly of the Gold Coast. They con-
graph 152 of the annual report. sisted of the master agreement between the two Gov- . 

ernments and the aluminium company, the statute for 
22. Mr. GRUBYAKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist the Volta River Authority, and the contract for the 
Republics) maintained that, taken in consideration with supplying of electricity between the aluminium com-
the Cocoa Marketing Board's report as given on pages pany and the owners of the hydroelectric scheme. The 
137 et seq. of the annual report, paragraph 152 would documents were expected to be completed by the 
still indicate that the revenue from the export duty on beginning of 1956, and the Council would be free to 
cocoa far exceeded expenditure in the Territory. discuss them if it so desired. 
23. Mr. ENSOR (Special representative for Togo- 29. In reply to questions from Mr. BARGUES 
land under British administration) explained that the (France) about the operation of the Cocoa Purchasing 
figure of £15 million given in the annual report as the Company, Mr. ENSOR (Special representative for 
export duty paid by the Cocoa Marketing Board related Togoland under British administration) pointed out 
to duty paid on behalf of the Gold Coast and Togoland that, for the time being, all shares in the enterprise were 
and not Togoland alone. The cocoa year was slightly held by the Cocoa Marketing Board. 
different from the Government's financial year and, 30. The Company issued two types of loans other than 
hence, it was not possible to balance the figures in the those for the relief of indebtedness: one for the expan-
Cocoa Marketing Board's report with the Government's sion of areas under cultivation, repayable to the extent 
figures. The amount paid into the reserve funds from of one-third in five annual instalments, one-third at the 
cocoa duty in respect of the Territory for the financial end of the sixth year, and one-third at the end of the 
year 1952-53 was £843,182. Of that amount £585,263 seventh year; and a second type for improvements on 
had been made available for development expenditure existing farms, repayable in eighteen months in two 
in 1952-53 and £257,981 could be regarded as having instalments. Loans made to farmers in debt were ex-
been accumulated in reserve. pected to be recovered over a period of three years, 
24. Mr. BARGUES (France) asked whether the although there was some doubt whether that goal could 
figure of £73,000 given in the annual report as the be reached. 
Territory's revenue from income tax and company tax 31. Mr. BARGUES (France) expressed interest in 
represented the exact amount paid in the Territory. the reaction of cocoa growers to the Administration's 
25. Mr. ENSOR (Special representative for Togo- efforts to combat swollen-shoot disease, and in the 
land under British administration) explained that success of campaigns against parasites attacking the 
income tax was payable in the Gold Coast and Togo- coffee plant. 
land to a single Income Tax Department. For the 32. Mr. ENSOR (Special representative for Togo-
purposes of the annual report, it provided the exact land under British administration) replied that no 
figures of income tax paid by residents in the Terri- difficulties had been encountered in the Trust Territory 
tory. It added a figure for company tax calculated on in combating swollen-shoot disease, mainly because 
the estimated percentage of business conducted in the farmers had observed the damage it had done in the 
Territory: if a firm conducted 15 per cent of its busi- Gold Coast, and because care had been taken by the 
ness in the Territory, 15 per cent of the total of that Administration to time its cutting-out campaigns so as 

137 



not to interfere 1rith the cocoa trees when they were 
co1·ered with a crop. 
33. The cotTee indu:;try. which was of comparatively 
recent developnwnt, was progressing satisfactorily, but 
it was still ditlicult to forecast hO\v extensive it would 
become. The cotTee beans had to be parboiled to prevent 
them irom !Jcing consumed hy the coffee berry weevil 
when in storage, and the Agricultural Department was 
,tudying mt·thod,; of combating other insect attacks on 
the cofTee plant. 
3-l. To a tinal question from :..rr. BARGUES 
(France) ahuut the reluctance of Africans to subscribe 
to loans ior the financing of equipment programmes, 
:\I r. EX ~OR (Special representative for Togoland 
under Briti,h administration) replied that there was no 
tradition of accumulation of capital among Africans. 
The :\rlrnini,tration was making great efTorts to stimu
late intere,t in per~onal investment. 

Social advancement 
35. :\Jr. RYCK:\L\~S (Belgium) expressed surprise 
that tigurc,; ior the number of adherents and the in
comes of the various missions and churches were not 
available. and asked approximately how many Chris
tians there were in the Territory. 
36. :\Ir. E'\TSOR (Special representative for Togo
land under British administration) said that it could 
not he determined from the information obtained from 
the missions what percentage oi their adherents lived 
in Togolancl and what percentage lived in the Gold 
Coast. A further attempt would be made, if the Council 
so desired, to persuade the missions to provide figures 
on a geographical basis. 
37. Replying to a further question from Mr. RYCK
:\IA~S (Belgium) about customary services, Mr. 
E;\SOR (Special representative for Togoland under 
British administration) pointed out that they consisted, 
in the north, merely of hoeing the chief's farm and 
presenting to him the hind leg of an animal killed in 
the chase. Services performed on behalf of the com
munity, such as road-building, were more widespread 
and were sometimes directed by the chief, and some
times by the Government's Social Welfare Department. 
Those services were as evenly distributed as possible 
by arrangement of the people themselves. 

38. In reply to a series of questions from Mr. RYCK
:\IA~S (Belgium) on medical and health problems, 
.:\Ir. ENSOR (Special representative for Togoland 
under British administration) explained that so-called 
licensed physicians in the Territory were as fully quali-
fied to practise medicine as registered physicians, the 
sole difference being that they had not been registered 
in the United Kingdom. 

39. The educational background of employees of 
dressing stations varied in the two parts of the Terri
tory. In the south, dressers had completed middle 
education and a considerable training period in the 
hospital ; in the north, some of them probably had no 
more than primary education, but a much longer train
ing period. 

40. The Bimbilla Health Centre had been established 
as part of the Administration's progra~me to p:ovi1e 
a higher level of curative and ~reventlve med1cme .m 
outlying areas than could be obtamed through local dis
pensaries. It had a trained staff of one nurse, one 
dispenser and a health inspector for the area, and had 
recently added a maternity ward. Its staff was in touch 

with a doctor, so that more senotts cases could be 
referred to him. 

41. The figures given in the annual report on ex
penditure for hospital equipment and drugs did not 
include the capital equipment of new hospitals. 

42. To a final question from Mr. RYCKMANS 
(Belgium) about persons imprisoned for non-p.ayment 
of clebts. i\1r. ENSOR (Special representative for 
Togoland under British administration) explained that 
such persons were committed to prison only in the last 
resort, since the court had to be convinced that they 
were capable of paying the debt, but had refused. to ~o 
so, and more particularly because the cost of mamtam
ing the debtor in prison had to be paid into the court. 

43. The large number of prison staff in relation to ~he 
number of prisoners was made necessary by the mam
tenance of small prisons in out-stations where the 
inmates had to be continuously available to the courts 
in the area. All long-term prisoners were concentrated 
in the central prisons. 

44. In reply to questions from Mr. LOOMES (Aus
tralia) about co-operation in health matters between the 
two Togolands and between the Gol~ Coast and ~he 
Trust Territory, Mr. ENSOR (Specml.represe.ntatlVe 
for Togoland under British administratiOn) sa1d t.hat 
contacts, hoth social and professional, between med1cal 
officers in the north and those of Togoland under 
French administration were relatively frequent, and a 
joint campaign against yaws was being considered by 
them towards the end of I 954. On the other hand, t~e 
practice by which patients from \ogola~d under Bnt
ish administration attended hospitals m the French 
Trust Territory had now largely ceased. The n~w 
hospital at Bawku, Gold Coast, serve_d th~ enttre 
Kusasi district, including about 40,000 11;h~b1t~nts ~f 
the Trust Territory. The tuberculosis specmhst mvestl
gating the incidence of the disease in .san;ple areas had 
not yet begun work in the Trust Terntones. 

45. Replying to a question from Mr. LOOMES 
(Australia) about migrant labour, Mr. E~.SOR C?~e
cial representative for Togoland under Bntlsh admmls
tration) explained that many of the labourers employed 
by cocoa farmers were people from the north who 
returned to their own farms after the cocoa harvest. 
Thus the amount of migrant labour moving from the 
north to the south of the Territory was considerable. 

46. To a final question from Mr. LOOMES (Aus
tralia), Mr. ENSOR (Special representa~ive for Togo
land under British administration) rephed that the~e 
had always been a few women chiefs and that the1r 
number was not increasing. In the Akan areas, where 
the system of descent was matrilineal, the queen mo
thers or female heads of the royal family, occupied 
an in;portant position and represented women's interest 
in the traditional councils. 

138 

47. In reply to questions from Mr. REID (N:w 
Zealand) about health activities, Mr. f::~SOR C?I?ec1al 
representative for Togoland under J?ntlsh admlmstra
tion) said that tl:e m~ss surver of dtseases would con
tinue for some t1me m Krach1, and that another field 
unit was expected to enter the Territory shortly from 
the south. The ·wHO regional office had not been ~sked 
for assistance, in money or personnel, for tha~ particular 
survey. The mass treatment of three of the d1seases a_nd 
a mass vaccination campaign were part of a firm pohcy 
which would be pursued as long as possible. 



4~.. The central Government was responsible for pro
ndu:g the main hospitals and the principal health 
services in the semi-urban communities. It also supplied 
doctors to man the hospitals and directed mass treat
ment campaigns, health and sanitation activities and 
hea.lth education. The local authorities were developing 
~heir own health facilities with the help of capital grants 
tram the Administration. In the north, enthusiasm for 
the opening of clinics was tempered by the need to 
educate and train dispensers willing to live in remote 
areas. In the south, where more educated people were 
available, the training period was shorter and staff 
required for dispensaries was more readily available. 
49. Replying to a final question from Mr. REID 
(New Zealand) about rural housing, Mr. ENSOR 
(Special representative for Togoland under British 
administration) said that a small Government depart
ment was now dealing with the problem, and had ex
perimentally set up a housing loans organization for 
both rural and urban areas. Three international housing 
experts from the United Nations Technical Assistance 
Administration had recently visited the Gold Coast and 
the Trust Territory to advise on housing questions. 
Until they had made their report, he would refrain 
from predicting future housing trends. 

The meeting was suspended at 4 p.m. and resumed 
at 4.25 p.m. 

HEARING OF MR. S. \V. KUMAH, DIRECTOR OF THE 
CocoA PuRCHASING CoMPANY (T /PET.6/344) 

At the invitation of the President, Mr. S. W. Kumah, 
Director of the Coc.oa Purchasing Company, took a 
place at the Council table. 
50. Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
said that in view of certain allegations that had been 
made by political opponents of the Convention People's 
Party, the Cocoa Purchasing Company had authorized 
him, as a director of the Company and a Togolander 
born and bred, to explain to the Council the policy of 
the Company, the system of marketing cocoa and the 
ways in which loans were issued to farmers. 
51. The Cocoa Marketing Board, one of whose direc
tors was a Togolander, had been set up primarily to 
stabilize the price of cocoa and thus to safeguard the 
interests of the cocoa farmers. As a result of good 
world trading conditions the Board had within a short 
period established reserve funds for that purpose. The 
Board, however, had never engaged directly in the 
purchase of cocoa, but had bought through a number of 
agencies, including European trading concerns and co
operative marketing societies. Nearly all the European 
trading concerns bought cocoa through middlemen, who 
received money from the European buying agents well 
in advance of the cocoa season and went about the 
country granting advances to farmers. Farmers who 
fell into the trap were forced by circumstances to agree 
to repay those advances during the following .'Ieason 
with loads of cocoa at a rate far below the official price 
and in that way many of them lost their year's income. 
On the other hand the co-operative marketing societies, 
which performed a useful function by buying direct 
from the farmer, were making very slow progress. The 
Cocoa Marketing Board had therefore decided in 1951 
to establish an all-African company to buy cocoa direct 
from the farmers and to look after their interests. The 
Cocoa Purchasing Company had been established in 
1952 and had been floated with a capital of £1,700,000 
by the Cocoa Marketing Board, which in the first 

instance had purchased all the shares itself. The Com
pany's activities were directed by a board of seven 
members appointed by the Cocoa Marketing Board. 
The Board of Directors had always included a Togo
lander. 
52. The Cocoa Purchasing Company opened buying 
centres in the towns, and even in remote villages, to 
enable farmers to sell direct to the Company instead 
of to middlemen. The Company used its own lorries to 
cart the cocoa from the villages to the ports for ship
ment. It appointed officers to supervise its buyers in 
each district; the supervisors travelled around their dis
tricts meeting groups of farmers, discussing their diffi
culties with them and collecting suggestions for the 
improvement of the buying system. These suggestions 
were passed on to the director most closely in touch 
with the region concerned, who placed them before the 

, Board. The directors also toured the various regions to 
meet farmers and the managing director made country
wide tours, meeting farmers and officers of the Com
pany. Farmers were at liberty to make use of the facili
ties offered by the Cocoa Purchasing Company or to 
sell their cocoa through any other buying agent of the 
Board. 
53. The Company's accounts were subject to audit and 
the accounts of its operations for the first year, ending 
September 1953, had been published. Staff salaries and 
other operating expenses were met, ncit from the 
farmers' reserve funds, but from the margin allowed by 
the Cocoa Marketing Board to any licensed buying 
agent on every ton of cocoa bought on behalf of the 
Board. 

54. In 1953 the Government had transferred from the 
Agricultural Loans Board to the Cocoa Marketing 
Board the responsibility of issuing loans to cocoa 
farmers and the Board in turn had appointed, first, the 
Cocoa Purchasing Company and, later, the co-operative 
marketing societies as its agencies for issuing loans to 
cocoa farmers. For that purpose the Cocoa Purchasing 
Company encouraged farmers in every locality to 
organize themselves into groups called centres. The 
centres serviced farmers in small areas, usually con
forming with local council areas. Each centre had its 
own seven-man committee, which was the working 
committee of farmers in the locality. The centres were 
grouped into districts, each district having its own 
council. All districts in each of the political regions 
lying within the cocoa-producing areas of the Gold 
Coast and the Trust Territory were encouraged to form 
regional unions of cocoa farmers. Each region in turn 
had its own council. Finally there was the Supreme 
Council of Cocoa Farmers of the Gold Coast and Togo
land under British administration. The members of the 
Supreme Council were drawn from the various regional 
councils. 

55. Any farmer who wished for a loan applied in 
writing to the seven-man committee in his locality. The 
committee interviewed the applicant and ordered that 
his farm should be inspected and certain particulars 
obtained. The Cocoa Purchasing Company then sent a 
field inspector to the applicant's farm and a report was 
submitted to the seven-man committee, which had the 
power to approve or reject the issue of a loan. Each 
case was dealt with on its merits. Apart from the pro
missory note given by the borrower to the Cocoa 
Purchasing Company and endorsed by the seven-man 
committee acting as joint guarantors, the Company 
required the borrower's farm as security. Since the 

139 



~cheme had come into operation there had not been a 
single instance, either in the Gold Coast or in the Trust 
T~rritory, of the Company's having to seize a farm for 
fa1lure on the part of. the farmer to repay his loan. 
56. The loans were issued to farmers for relief of 
indebtedness, for the expansion of areas under cultiva
tion and for the improYement of existing farms. 
57. Indebtedness was not particularly serious or 
prevalent in the Trust Territorv, but some means of 
relieving cases that did occur \\';S needed. :\fost of the 
loans issued during the first vcar had been for that 
purpose. The maJ· oritv of loans. no\\' he in"' issued how-

• b ' 

e\·er, were .either for improvement of existing farms or 
for expansiOn of areas under cultivation. Those who 
embarked on cocoa farming without any capital behind 
them found that by the time their farms began to yield 
they were £300 or £400 in debt and that their farms had 
to be handed over to money-lenders. The loans issued 
by the Cocoa .Purch~sing Coml?any were helping to 
remove those dti'fi.culttes. A loan Issued for the relief of 
indebteclness was paid. as a single st:m and was repay
able over five years m five equal mstalments. \Vhen 
such a loan had been issued and the farmer had been 
freed from the money-lender's clutches, the farmer and 
the Cocoa Purchasing Company in theory became co
managers of the farm until the loan was fully repaid. 
58. A loan. for the i!11provement of an existing farm 
was also pa1d as a smgle sum and was repayable in 
eighteen n:ont!1s. q_£ loans for the expansion of an area 
under cultivatiOn, ;,0 per cent \\·as issued on approval, 
~ fur~her 30 per cent on evidence of satisfactory clear
mg ot the grounc! and the final 20 per cent on evidence 
of completion of planting of the cocoa seedlings. The 
repayment of such loans was spread over seven years. 
59. The Company charged interest at the rate of 10 
per cent on all loans issued under the scheme in order 
to enable it to meet normal operating expenses and bad 
debts. up to 30 September 1954, loans amounting to 
£219,110 had been is~ued to S87 cocoa farmers in the 
Tru.st Territory for all three purposes. In the adminis
tratiOn of the loans the Cocoa Purchasing Company 
worked in full co-operation with the farmers. Loans 
were issued strictly on the basis of established needs 
and were not subject to political or personal influences 
of any kind. 
60. The Cocoa Purchasing Company performed a 
number of valuable functions, but the farmers were 
entirely free to avail themselves or not of the opportuni
ties being offered. The Company trusted that the Coun
cil would not allow itself to be diverted by the irre
levancies and misrepresentations in the petitions. 
61. The PRESIDENT invited members of the Coun
cil to put questions to the Director of the Cocoa 
Purchasing Company. 
62. In reply to questions from Mr. DORSINVILLE 
(Haiti), Mr. KUMAR (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
said that the money-lenders charged what rate of 
interest they liked, very often as much as 50 per cent 
or more ; the Cocoa Purchasing Company charged a 
rate of 10 per cent on the whole of the sum loaned for 
the total period of the loan. ' 

63. No legal measures had been taken to eliminate the 
middlemen, but it was hoped that they would disappear 
automatically as a result of the efficient operation of 
the Company. 

64. Mr. DORSINVILLE (Haiti) asked for details 
about the conflict which had arisen between the co-

operative societies and the Cocoa Purchasing Company, 
and the way in which it had been settled. 
65. l\Ir. KUl\IAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
said that the organization of the co-operative societies 
was a matter for the Cocoa Marketing Board and not 
for the Cocoa Purchasing Company; he was sure, how
ever, that every assistance had been given them both 
hy the Government and by the Board. 
(>(). l\lr. EL-FARRA (Syria) asked whether there 
was ever any variation from the 10 per cent rate of 
interest charged on sums lent by the Company. 
(>7. ?vir. KUMAR (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
said that 10 per cent was the rate universally charged, 
save where the local seven-man committee undertook 
to he guarantors for the borrower, in which case the 
rate chargee! was 8 per cent. 
6S. The money-lenders who charged over SO per cent 
interest were natives of the Trust Territory. 
69. l\lr. EL-FARRA (Syria) asked how, in practice, 
the co-management to \Vhich the Director of the Cocoa 
Purchasing Company had referred, operated. 
70. Mr. KUl\1AH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
said that in theory the Company managed the farm but 
in fact the management was left to the farmer himself, 
while the Company assisted in the cultivation of the 
cocoa, the provision of labour and in other ways. When 
the cocoa was marketed, the Company took a propor
tion of the produce as part payment of its loan. 
71. Mr. RYCKMANS (Belgium) asked whether 
money-lenders who charged more than SO per cent were 
not prosecuted under the Money-lenders Ordinance, to 
which reference was made in the annual report. 
72. ?llr. KUMAR (Cocoa Purchasing Company) said 
that they were prosecuted if they were apprehended but 
that such transactions usually took place in secret. 
73. In reply to questions from Mr. GRUBY AKOV 
(Union of Soviet Socialist Republics), Mr. KUMAR 
(Cocoa Purchasing Company) said that the Company 
bought the cocoa directly from the farmers at a rate 
laid down by the Cocoa Marketing Board, at present 
£154.8s.Od. He did not know what price per ton the 
Cocoa Marketing Board received for the cocoa it ex
ported, but would be happy to find that figure. 
74. Mr. GRUBYAKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics) noted that upon accepting a loan a farmer 
lost the exclusive right to management of his farm and 
wondered whether the form and degree of the Com
pany's participation in the management was set forth 
in a precise agreement. 
75. Mr. KUMAR (Cocoa Purchasing Company) said 
that there was no written agreement but that it was 
understood that the Company's participation was for 
the good of the farmer, and that he would accept it. 
The joint management of the farm gave the Company 
no legal rights over it, but the farm stood as security 
in case of non-repayment of the loan, and the farmer 
signed a written agreement to that effect when he re
ceived the money. In the event of non-repayment the 
matter was dealt with through a court and could not be 
settled unilaterally by the Company. 

140 

76. In reply to a further question from Mr. GRU
BYAKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist Republics), Mr. 
KUMAR (Cocoa Purchasing Company) said that 
those who charged over 50 per cent interest on the 
loans were illegal money-lenders and not to be con
fused with the middlemen who bought cocoa for the 
various agents representing European trading concerns. 



77. Mr. GRUBYAKOV (Union of Soviet Socialist 
Republics) said that it appeared, both from petitions 
and from the information given by the Administering 
Authority, that a good deal of contraband cocoa was 
passing into neighbouring territories, and he recalled 
that petitioners had complained that the Company was 
exercising a monopoly over the purchase of cocoa, for 
which it paid much lower prices than were paid on the 
world market. He would like the views of the Director 
of the Cocoa Purchasing Company on those circum
stances. 

78. Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
said that it was true that the price fixed by the Cocoa 
1farketing Board, and observed by the Cocoa Purchas
ing Company in its purchase of cocoa from the farmers, 
was considerably lower than the price paid on the world 
market, which was at present about .£300. It was also 
true that there was a flow of contraband cocoa into ad
jacent territories; every attempt was being made to 
check that flow which, it was believed, was organized 
by the political opponents of the Government. The 
Government had explained to the people its reasons for 
paying them less per load for their cocoa than was being 
paid in neighbouring territories or than was obtainable 
on the world market, and they had appeared to under
stand those reasons. Any producer naturally liked to 
receive the highest possible price for his products, but 
he believed that the Government was justified in the 
price it had fixed in view of the long-term schemes for 
the good of the farmer upon which it had embarked, 
and of the need to stabilize prices. As soon as it became 
possible to pay a higher price to the farmer, the Gov
ernment would do so. 
79. Mr. QUIROS (El Salvador) asked for a more 
precise explanation of the guarantee given by the 
farmer for the loan he received. 
80. Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
said that the cocoa farmers in the Territory did not, 
as a rule, own the land they farmed; the cocoa harvest 
itself was therefore the security. 
81. In answer to a further question from Mr. 
QUIROS (El Salvador), Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa 
Purchasing Company) said that political interests did 
not enter into· the operations of the Company and 
that it did not know the political affiliations of the 
persons chosen to participate in the local seven-man 
committees and certainly did not select them on political 
grounds. 
82. Mr. RYCKMANS (Belgium) asked whether, in 
view of the export duty fixed by the Government, the 
price fixed by the Cocoa Marketing Board and paid by 
the Cocoa Purchasing Company was reasonable. 
83. Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
replied that any statement on that point could only be 
his own opinion and that he was not prepared to make 
any comments on the matter. 
84. Mr. S. S. LIU (China) said that he was not clear 
as to the rate of interest charged on loans. He had 
understood Mr. Kumah to say that the rate was 10 per 
cent for the whole period, no matter how long. Some 
loans were repayable at the end of eighteen months, 
others at the end of three years and a third category 
at the end of seven years. If his understanding were 
correct, there was therefore great discrepancies in the 
annual rates of interest paid. 
85. Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
explained that loans given for improvement to existing 

141 

farms, which were repayable after eighteen months, 
were normally very small, so that, although the rate of 
10 per cent might appear high, the actual sum to be paid 
was small. A loan made for redemption of a farm from 
debt was usually large and, since the object was to help 
the farmer, the interest was still 10 per cent for the 
whole period. Furthermore, a farm which had been 
taken by a money-lender had been out of the farmer's 
hands for a long time so that he was really poor; that 
did not apply in the case of a loan for the expansion 
of an existing farm. 

86. In reply to further questions from Mr. S. S. LIU 
(China), Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
said that there was only one Togolander on the Board 
of the Company; the other six members were all 
indigenous inhabitants of the Gold Coast. 
87. Mr. LOOMES (Australia) asked whether the 
Cocoa Purchasing Company was a profit-making com
pany. 
88. Mr. KUMAR (Cocoa Purchasing Company) said 
that for the time being the Cocoa Marketing Board had 
asked the Company not to try to make profits; in the 
long run, however, it would be a profit-making com
pany. 
89. Mr. LOOMES (Australia) asked whether, that 
being so, the price obtained from the Board by the 
Company was the price paid by the Company to the 
farmer plus a small operating cost. 
90. Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
said that the Company received from the Board what it 
paid to the producer, plus a small margin on every ton 
of cocoa bought. 
91. Mr. DORSINVILLE (Haiti) observed that the 
Administration had repeatedly justified the main
tenance of the price paid to the producers at a figure 
which might appear somewhat low in relation to the 
price of cocoa on the world market by the argument 
that there was danger of inflation in the Territory. 
92. Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
replied that the Company had nothing to do with price
fixing. The reasons given by the Government for fixing 
the price at 72 shillings appeared to the company to be 
cogent. 
93. Mr. DORSINVILLE (Haiti) asked Mr. Kumah 
whether, as a Togolander, he did not think it his duty 
to defend the interests of the planters and producers 
of the Territory as a whole and draw the attention of 
the Cocoa Marketing Board to any facts which affected 
those interests. 
94. Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
said that the Government set aside part of the reserve 
funds for development and through the various councils 
the Company saw to it that development took place. He 
felt that in that way he was doing his duty as a Togo
lander. 
95. Mr. EL-FARRA (Syria) pointed out that, ac
cording to the supplementary information given by the 
Administering Authority on 5 January (T/1148), the 
Company paid off the amount owing and managed the 
farm for a period not exceeding three years, during 
which it recovered the amount of the loan plus interest 
at not more than 10 per cent. It was further stated that 
interest charged to the farmer by the Company was a 
matter for the Company's discretion but that it must be 
sufficient to meet reasonable operating expenses and to 
set up reserves for bad debts. He had understood Mr. 
Kumah to say that direct management of the farms was 



in the h:mds oi the i:mncrs. According to the Adminis
tration, intere~t was chargee! only to meet reasonable 
operating expenses. If direct management was in the 
hands oi the farmers, howe\·er. there was no reason for 
interest to be charged. He would like to have an ex
planation on that point. 

96. ::\Ir. KC::\IAH (Cocoa Purchasing Company) 
replied that the periud ior repayment had in fact been 
three years to begin with, but it had been found that 
that was too :,hort a time and the term had therefore 
Leen increased to five years. The Company's capital 
mu~t ah\·ays remain intact at £2 million. A separate 

Printed in Canada 

department for the administration of loans had been set 
up. with its own staff whose salaries were paid from a 
special account. That was the main reason for the 10 
per cent charge. 
97. ~I r. SI:--JGH (India) \VOndered how much sup
port the Government's cocoa policy had among the 
people ; he asked whether cocoa had been a major issue 
in the last election. 
Y8. .Mr. KUMAH (Cocoa Purchasing Compan,Y) 
said that it had not been an issue, since the cocoa pnce 
had not been fixed at that time. 

The meeting rose at 5.55 p.m. 

142 
Q 3328-March 1955 2,175 




